A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Ronald Love asks this Court to accept review of the Court of 

Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Love requests review of the decision in In re Detention of Ronald 

Love, Court of Appeals No. 32555-5-III (slip op. filed June 14, 2016), 

attached as appendix A. The Court of Appeals entered an order denying 

reconsideration on October 4, 2016 (attached as appendix B). 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the evidence was insufficient to commit Love as a 

sexually violent predator under the law of the case doctrine, where the "to 

commit" instruction required the jury to fmd a mental abnormality or 

personality disorder made him likely to reofiend, but the State's expert 

witness opined only the combination of mental abnormality and 

personality disorder made him likely to reoffend? 

2. Whether the "to commit" instruction, phrased in the 

disjunctive, violated Love's right to due process because it allowed the 

jury to base its verdict on speculation, lessened the State's burden of proof, 

and was unsupported by substantial evidence? 

3. Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in not 

objecting to the flawed "to commit" instruction? 
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4. Whether the trial court committed reversible error in· 

admitting former testimony under ER 804(b)(l) because the State failed to 

establish the witness's unavailability? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In 2005, a judge found Love to be a sexually violent predator 

(SVP) following a bench trial and ordered his indefinite commitment 

under chapter 71.09 RCW. CP 804. In 2013, the court ordered an 

unconditional release trial after Love showed probable cause he no longer 

met the commitment criteria. CP 804-07. 

At the ensuing trial, the State presented evidence from Dr. Phenix 

concerning Love's past sex offenses ranging from 1973 to 1992. lRP 784, 

792-95, 878-91, 1008-14, 1503-05, 1534. Phenix diagnosed Love with 

alcohol use disorder, rape paraphilia, and antisocial personality disorder. 

lRP 858, 869, 894, 897, 902, 907-08. She testified none of these mental 

conditions standing alone made Love likely to sexually reoffend; rather 

these conditions worked in combination to render him dangerous to the 

community. lRP 913, 988-90. Phenix also relied on actuarial instruments 

to conclude he was more likely than not to commit future acts of sexual 

violence. lRP 918, 925-27, 935-40. 

In his defense, Love presented evidence from psychologists 

challenging the bases for Dr. Phenix's diagnoses and assessment that he 
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was likely to reoffend, 1 evidence of his involvement in Native American 

religious and healing practices that showed he had changed for the better, 2 

and medical evidence that his current physical state made it unlikely he 

would engage in sexual violence. 3 Love denied committing any sex 

offenses, including the 1978 rape of A.P. 1RP 1470-76, 1599, 1895. 

The State sought to admit A.P.'s former testimony under ER 

804(b)(1). 1RP 1023. The defense objected, arguing the State had not 

shown A.P. was unavailable under ER 804 and that the testimony was 

cumulative and unnecessarily prejudicial. 1RP 1023. The State contended 

A.P. was not amenable to subpoena because she lived in Puerto Rico and 

was therefore "unavailable." 1RP 1024. The State further argued her 

former testimony was not cumulative because Dr. Phoenix's testimony 

regarding the A.P. rape was admitted for the limited purpose of explaining 

the basis for her expert opinion. lRP 1024. A.P.'s testimony, in contrast, 

was offered for substantive purposes. 1RP 1024. The State maintained 

A.P.'s testimony was needed for substantive purposes because "there's 

room for difference of opinion about the -- about what happened during 

those incidents." 1RP 1025. The court admitted A.P.'s former testimony, 

1 1RP 1225, 1236-56, 1271, 1292, 1655-58, 1664, 1680, 1725, 1779, 1852. 
2 1RP 1080-81, 1311-12, 1334, 1344, 1347-51, 1387, 1389, 1078-81, 
1086, 1308-09, 1315-16, 1400-02, 1407, 1691-93, 1719-23, 1789. 
3 lRP 1369-78. 
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accepting the State's representation that A.P. was unavailable. I RP I 026-

27. The testimony was read to the jury. lRP 1199-1201; CP 32-48. 

The court instructed the jury that to commit Mr. Love as an SVP, it 

needed to find that he bad previously been found to be an SVP, he 

continued to suffer from "a mental abnormality or personality disorder" 

and that "[t]he mental abnormality or personality disorder .continues to 

make Ronald Love likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence 

unless confmed to a secure facility." CP I6. The jury returned a verdict 

that Love remained an SVP. CP 8. 

On appeal, Love argued the evidence was insufficient under the 

law of the case doctrine, the "to commit" instruction lessened the State's 

burden of proof and was unsupported by the evidence, trial counsel was 

ineffective in not objecting to the "to commit" instruction, and the trial 

court wrongly admitted A.P.'s former testimony without a showing of 

unavailability. See Brief of Appellant at 11-34; Reply Brief at 1-14. The 

Court of Appeals affirmed. Slip op. at 1. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. THE VERDICT IS NOT SUPPORTED BY 
SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE UNDER THE LAW OF 
THE CASE DOCTRINE. 

Under "the law of the case" doctrine, what facts need to be proven 

depends on how the jury is instructed. "[I]nstructions given to the jury by 
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the trial court, if not objected to, shall be treated as the properly applicable 

law." Lutheran Day Care v. Snohomish County, 119 Wn.2d 91, 113, 829 

P.2d 746 (1992) (quoting 15 L. Orland & K. Tegland, Wash. Prac., 

Judgments § 380, at 56 (4th ed. 1986)). Where a party challenges the 

sufficiency of evidence on appeal, "[t]he sufficiency of the evidence to 

sustain the verdict is to be determined by the application of the 

instructions." Tonkovich v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 31 Wn.2d 220, 225, 

195 P.2d 638 (1948). Whether the Court of Appeals can disregard the law 

of the case doctrine in favor of interpreting the meaning of a jury instruction 

through resort to statutory construction is an issue of substantial public 

interest warranting review. RAP 13 .4(b )( 4) 

The jury was instructed that it must find beyond a reasonable doubt 

that Love suffers from a "mental abnormality or personality disorder" and 

that "[t]he mental abnormality or personality disorder continues to make 

Ronald Love likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence unless 

confined to a secure facility." CP 16. Use of the disjunctive "or" in the 

"to commit" instruction, instead of the conjunctive "and," requires reversal 

of the verdict under the law of the case doctrine. The State's expert 

testified the combination of Love's mental abnormality and personality 

disorder made him likely to reoffend, not that one or the other standing 

alone made him likely to reoffend. IRP 913, 988-90. The evidence does 
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not show one mental condition or the other made Love likely to reoffend, 

but the "to commit" instruction required that finding because of its use of 

the disjunctive "or." The evidence is therefore insufficient to sustain 

Love's commitment under the jury instructions. RCW 71.09.090(3)(c); 

U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV; Const. art. 1, § 3. 

The Court of Appeals miscast Love's argument in an effort to 

defeat it: "Although cast as a jury instructional issue, his true challenge is 

to the construction of the statute since the challenged aspect of the jury 

instruction merely recites the statutory definition." Slip op. at 6 n.2. This 

is untrue. Love does not challenge the statute. Love raised a "law of the 

case" sufficiency argument and the Court of Appeals, unable to deal with 

it, ignored it in favor of a theory more to its liking. 

The Court of Appeals relied on the notion that the word "or" can 

be either exclusive or inclusive. Slip op. at 7 (citing Lake v. Woodcreek 

Homeowners Ass'!b 169 Wn.2d 516, 528, 243 P.3d 1283 {2010)). The 

Court in Lake, for example, engaged in statutory construction to determine 

whether the word "or" used in a statute should be interpreted as an 

exclusive disjunctive or an inclusive disjunctive. Lake, 169 Wn.2d at 527~ 

31. The Court of Appeals then said the Supreme Court has already 
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construed the relevant statutory language under RCW 71.09.020(18)4 as 

meaning an inclusive "and" rather than an exclusive "or." Slip op. at 7 

(citing In re Pers. Restraint of Young, 122 Wn.2d 1, 58, 857 P.2d 989 

(1993)). To be precise, the statute is construed to permit commitment of a 

person who has a combination of mental abnormality and a personality 

disorder because these conditions can act alone or in tandem. Young, 122 

Wn.2d at 58. 

But the statutory analysis does not resolve Love's law of the case 

challenge. The jury gets the law from the court through its instructions. 

The Court of Appeals went wrong in interpreting the meaning of the 

instruction as if it were a statute. A jury lacks the ability to apply 

principles of statutory construction to interpret the meaning of a statute. 

State v. LeFaber, 128 Wn.2d 896, 902, 913 P.2d 369 (1996), abrogated on 

other grounds by State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). 

Instructions are read in the same manner as an ordinary, reasonable juror 

would read them. State v. Killingsworth, 166 Wn. App. 283, 288, 269 

P.3d 1064 (2012). ''The rules of sentence structure and punctuation are the 

very means by which persons of common understanding are able to ascertain 

4 An SVP is "any person who has been convicted of or charged with a 
crime of sexual violence and who suffers from a mental abnormality or 
personality disorder which makes the person likely to engage in predatory 
acts of sexual violence if not confmed in a secure facility." RCW 
71.09 .020(18). 
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the meaning of written words." State v. Simo~ 64 Wn. App. 948, 958, 831 

P.2d 139 (1991), rev. in part on other grounds, 120 Wn.2d 196, 840 P.2d 172 

(1992). An ordinary, reasonable juror does not apply principles of 

statutory construction to figure out whether "or" really means "and" in the 

"to commit" instruction. See State v. Owens, 180 Wn.2d 90, 101 n.6. 323 

P.3d 1030 (2014) (conjunctive "and" rather than a disjunctive "or" in the 

"to convict" instruction became law of the case in the absence of 

objection); State v. Stephens, 93 Wn.2d 186, 189-90, 607 P.2d 304 (1980) 

(where defendant was charged with one count of assault against two 

victims conjunctively, the instruction referencing the names of the victims 

in the disjunctive violated right to jury unanimity). 

Whether an instruction is rightfully or wrongfully given, it is 

binding and conclusive upon the jury. State v. Hickm~ 135 Wn.2d 97, 

102 n.2, 954 P.2d 900 (1998); see McGovern v. Greyhound Corp., 53 

Wn.2d 773, 779-80, 337 P.2d 290 (1959) ("Although we do not approve 

of the language used in this part of the instruction, as given, since no 

exception was taken thereto, it became the law of the case into which we 

will not inquire."). In the absence of expert testimony that either a mental 

abnormality or personality disorder caused Love to be at risk of reoffense, 

sufficient evidence is lacking to prove the proposition required by the jury 

instruction. 
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2. THE DISJUNCTIVE "TO COMMIT'·' INSTRUCTION 
IS FLAWED BECAUSE IT ALLOWED THE JURY 
TO BASE ITS VERDICT ON SPECULATION, 
LESSENED THE STATE'S BURDEN OF PROOF, 
AND WAS UNWARRANTED BY THE EVIDENCE. 

Even if the evidence is sufficient to sustain the verdict under the 

"law of the case" doctrine, the "to commit" instruction is flawed because 

substantial evidence did not support use of the disjunctive "or" on the 

issue of whether the mental abnormality or the personality disorder made 

Love likely to reoffend. The instruction improperly allowed the jury to 

base its verdict on a finding that either the mental abnormality or the 

personality disorder made Love likely to reoffend, rather than requiring 

the jury to find both conditions made him likely to reoffend. In this 

manner, the instruction permitted the jury to render a verdict based on 

speculation and lessened the State's burden of proving both conditions 

made Love likely to reoffend, in violation of due process. U.S. Const. 

amends. V, XIV; Const. art. 1, § 3. In the alternative, Love's counsel 

provided ineffective assistance in failing to object to the "to commit" 

instruction. Given the frequency with which experts rely on a 

combination of mental abnormality and personality disorder to opme 

someone meets the SVP definition, this case presents an issue of 

significant constitutional law or substantial public interest calling for 

review. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). 
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a. The disjunctive language in the "to commit" instruction 
permitted the jury to choose between the mental 
abnormality or the personality disorder as the sole 
condition that made Love likely to reoffend, but the 
evidence did not support such a finding. 

The Court of Appeals did not address Love's argument that the "to 

commit" instruction is infirm. In connection with the sufficiency issue, 

the Court of Appeals relied on Young's recognition that a "mental 

abnormality" and "personality disorder" can work in conjunction to satisfy 

the statutory definition of an SVP. Slip op at 7-8. This is an accurate 

statement of the law. It also shows why the "to commit" instruction is 

flawed. 

The determination of whether an instruction invades a fundamental 

constitutional right "requires careful attention to the words actually used in 

the instruction because whether a defendant has been accorded full 

constitutional rights depends on the way a reasonable juror could have 

interpreted the instruction." State v. Miller, 131 Wn.2d 78, 90, 929 P.2d 

372 (1997). The "to commit" instruction, through use of the disjunctive, 

allowed the jury to find Love was an SVP if either the mental abnormality 

made him likely to reoffend or the personality disorder made him likely to 

reoffend. See Viking Automatic Sprinkler Co. v. Pac. Indem. Co., 19 

Wn.2d 294, 298, 142 P.2d 394 (1943) ("Framed in the disjunctive, as it is, 

the instruction permitted the jury to return a verdict for respondent without 
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regard to [one of the causes ofthe harm]."); State v. Bower, 28 Wn. App. 

704, 708, 626 P.2d 39 (1981) ("Here 'threat' was defined to include the 

requisite mental state, but the disjunctive instruction was inadequate to 

inform the jury that the alternatives of force or violence had to be 

accompanied by the knowledge or intent that the conduct would prevent 

the performance of the guard's duties."), disapproved on other grounds by 

State v. Kiorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). 

A jury instruction must be supported by substantial evidence. 

State v. Hughes, 106 Wn.2d 176, 191, 721 P.2d 902 (1986). Substantial 

evidence did not support use of the disjunctive "or" in the "to commit" 

instruction. Dr. Phenix testified the combination of the mental abnormality 

and the personality disorder made Love likely to reoffend. 1RP 913, 960-61, 

988-90. Expert testimony was needed to support the verdict because an 

essential element needed to be established by an opinion that is beyond the 

expertise of a layperson. Berger v. Sonneland, 144 Wn.2d 91, 110, 26 P.3d 

257 (2001); In re Detention ofBedker, 134 Wn. App. 775, 779, 146 P.3d 

442 (2006); RCW 71.09.020(9). For this reason, the instruction needed to 

use the conjunctive "and." Use of the disjunctive "or" in this instruction 

was unwarranted by the evidence presented to the trier of fact. "It is 

prejudicial error to submit an issue to the jury that is not warranted by the 

evidence." State v. Clausing, 147 Wn.2d 620, 627, 56 P.3d 550 (2002). 
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The instruction may have misled the jury into believing it could 

find Love was an SVP based on the mental abnormality or personality 

disorder alone as the cause of risk of reoffense. Although the Court of 

Appeals was content to interpret the meaning of the instruction as if it 

were construing a statute, "the standard for clarity in jury instructions is 

higher than that for a statute because although courts may use statutory 

construction, juries lack these same interpretive tools." State v. Harris, 

122 Wn. App. 547, 553-54,90 P.3d 1133 (2004). 

That the instruction was based on statutory language does not save 

it. An instruction taken from the language of a statute "must be justified 

by the evidence, pertinent to the case, confmed to the issues of the case, 

and it must not mislead the jury." Day v. Goodwin, 3 Wn. App. 940, 944, 

478 P.2d 774 (1970). Love had the right "to have a jury base its decision 

on an accurate statement of the law applied to the facts in the case." 

Miller, 131 Wn.2d at 90-91. In this regard, "an instruction that is correct 

in the abstract, or correct as applied to one set of facts, may become 

misleading when applied to another set of facts." State v. Irons, 101 Wn. 

App. 544, 553, 4 P.3d 174 (2000). The set of facts at play here is Dr. 

Phenix's testimony that the combination of the mental abnormality and 

personality disorder makes Love likely to reoffend. The jury needed to be 

instructed in the conjunctive to avoid submitting an issue to the jury that 
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was not supported by substantial evidence and to avoid lowering the 

State's burden of proof. The alternative means of establishing someone is 

an SVP - mental abnormality and personality disorder - can work in 

conjunction. In re Detention of Halgren, 156 Wn.2d 795, 810, 132 P.3d 

714 (2006). lbis means in a particular case the conjunctive "and" is 

appropriate in a jury instruction instead of the disjunctive "or" when it 

comes to the mental conditions that contribute to risk of reoffense. 

Pattern instructions are supposed to be individually tailored to the 

facts of a particular case, not mindlessly replicated regardless of the 

evidence presented at trial. 6 Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. 

WPI 0.10 (6th ed.). WPI 365.34, the pattern "to commit" instruction, thus 

notes for "elements (2) and (3), use the bracketed 'mental abnormality' 

and/or 'personality disorder' language in accord with the evidence 

presented at trial." The instruction in Love's case needed to be tailored to 

the evidence presented. It wasn't. That's reversible error. 

b. Love's counsel provided ineffective assistance in failing to 
object to the "to commit" instruction. 

Love's trial counsel did not object to the "to commit" instruction. 

Violation of the due process right to a fair trial by a misleading and legally 

inapplicable instruction is an error of constitutional magnitude under RAP 

2.5(a)(3). State v. 0'~ 167 Wn.2d 91, 98-99, 105,217 P.3d 756 (2009). 
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But if the error is not reviewable under RAP 2.5(a)(3), then Love's 

ineffective assistance of counsel claim will need to be reviewed. 

Those facing involuntary commitment have a statutory and due 

process right to counsel and courts apply the Strickland standard to 

determine whether counsel was ineffective. In re Detention of Moore, 167 

Wn.2d 113, 122, 216 P.3d 1015, 1021 (2009) (citing Strickland v. 

WashingtoJJ. 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)); U.S. 

Const. amend. V and XIV; RCW 71.09.050(1); RCW 10.101.005. To 

establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Love must show deficient 

performance and resulting prejudice. Moore, 167 Wn.2d at 122. 

Deficient performance is that which falls below an objective standard of 

reasonableness. Id. There is no legitimate reason why Love's counsel 

failed to object to the "to commit" instruction on the basis that the use of 

the disjunctive "or" lessened the State's burden of proof, allowed the jury 

to base its verdict on speculation, and was not supported by substantial 

evidence. The flawed "to commit" instruction made it easier for the State 

to prove and the jury to find Love met the SVP definition. No competent 

attorney makes it easier for his client to be civilly committed. 

Prejudice results from a reasonable probability that the result 

would have been different but for counsel's performance. Moore, 167 

Wn.2d at 122. Love shows prejudice because, based on the evidence 
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presented in his defense, there was a basis for a reasonable jury to reject 

either the mental abnonnality or the personality disorder as the condition that 

made Love likely to reoffend. Confidence in the outcome is undermined 

because the "to conunit" instruction allowed the jury to find Love met the 

SVP definition based on one or the other but not both conditions. 

3. THE ADMISSION OF PRIOR WITNESS TESTIMONY 
CONSTITUTED REVERSffiLE ERROR BECAUSE 
THE STATE FAILED TO ESTABLISH THE WITNESS 
WAS UNAVAILABLE TO TESTIFY AT THE 
PRESENT TRIAL. 

To admit a witness's prior testimony as an exception to the hearsay 

rule under ER 804, the proponent must establish unavailability, which means 

the use of reasonable means to secure the witness's attendance. The State 

made no effort to obtain the voluntary attendance of A.P. as a witness at 

trial. Having failed to establish A.P. was unavailable, her former testimony 

was inadmissible. In holding any error was harmless, the Court of Appeals

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