# RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jan 06, 2017, 4:43 pm

# RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93815-6

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of Ronald Love:

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

v.

RONALD LOVE,

Petitioner.

## STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MALCOLM ROSS Senior Counsel WSBA 22883 Criminal Justice Division 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2011

#

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

To the extent Love's argument and proposed instruction would have required the State's expert and the jury to precisely determine which of several mental disorders made Love sexually dangerous, he misapprehends the nature of mental health expert opinion testimony and the role of the jury in evaluating it. This Court and others have never required such specificity. "[T]estimony relating to mental illnesses and disorders is not amenable to the types of precise and verifiable cause and effect relation petitioners seek[.]" *Young*, 122 Wn.2d at 57.<sup>3</sup> Undoubtedly, the Legislature incorporated "mental abnormality" and "personality

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See also Matter of Maricopa Cty. Cause No. MH-90-00566, 173 Ariz. 177, 185, 840 P.2d 1042, 1050 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1992) ("Thus, to require in mental health statutes the precision required in criminal statutes would be impossible and only undermine the state's interest with regard to mentally-ill persons."; Baker v. United States, 226 F.Supp. 129, 132 (S.D. Iowa 1964), aff'd, 343 F.2d 222 (8th Cir. 1965) ("It is particularly recognized in the treatment of mental patients that diagnosis is not an exact science. Diagnosis with absolute precision and certainty is impossible."; United States v. Royal, 902 F.Supp. 268, 272 (D.D.C. 1995) ("The human psyche is not a neat piece of graph paper on which we can chart its emotions with great exactitude and precision.").

disorder" into the definition of "sexually violent predator" inclusively, to forestall defenses based on diagnostic loopholes, and not to require specificity from experts or juries. RCW 71.09.020(18).<sup>4</sup>

Fact-finders have the same discretion over expert testimony as over other evidence. "It is within the province of the jury to accept or reject, in whole or in part, an expert's opinion, and this court will not second-guess the jury's credibility determinations." *Kohfeld v. United Pac. Ins. Co.*, 85 Wn. App. 34, 42, 931 P.2d 911, 915 (1997). Some jurors may have found only the mental abnormality diagnosis credible, some only the personality disorder, and some may have believed both. That is why the statute and instruction that mirrored it were crafted as inclusive disjunctives, creating alternative means. Love's argument and proposed instruction would require the jury to precisely determine the extent to which one or more of several diagnoses made him likely to reoffend.

# 3. Any Error was Invited and not of Constitutional Magnitude

Assuming *arguendo* that Jury Instruction No. 5 was error, it was an error that Love invited the Court to make. When Love proposed a "to

11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Another example is the Legislature's definition of "mental abnormality," which is in part "a congenital or acquired condition[.]" Since all conditions are one or the other, and neither experts nor juries can be expected to determine which, the inclusive definition was obviously designed to forestall an exclusion argument. RCW 71.09.020(8); *see* 1RP 909 ("Q: Is it possible to know which one it is? A: No, not really.").

commit" instruction that changed "continues to suffer" to "currently suffers," his proposal also included the word "or" between the two alternative means:

Well, my suggestion is, Your Honor, is that we modify this instruction, that, "Ronald Love *currently* suffers from a *mental abnormality or personality* which causes him serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior." That's what we're really here to make a determination on.

## 1RP 1817 (emphasis added).

Under the doctrine of invited error, a party may not materially contribute to an error of law at trial and then complain of it on appeal. *In re Dependency of K.R.*, 128 Wn.2d 129, 147, 904 P.2d 1132 (1995). The record reflects that Love himself proposed the very language to which he now assigns error. This Court should decline to address his argument because Love invited any error in the instruction.

Love also should not be allowed to raise this argument on appeal because he does not identify a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Walsh*, 143 Wn.2d 1, 7, 17 P.3d 591 (2001). Not all trial errors which implicate a constitutional right are reviewable under RAP 2.5(a)(3): "The exception actually is a narrow one, affording review only of 'certain constitutional questions." *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 687-88, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) (*Scott* II). Exceptions to RAP 2.5(a) must be construed narrowly. *State v. WWJ Corp.*,

138 Wn.2d 595, 603, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999). Love must first identify a constitutional error and then show how it actually affected his rights at trial. It is that showing that makes the error "manifest." *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Even if a court determines that a claim raises a manifest constitutional error, it may still be subject to harmless error analysis. *Id.* at 333.

Here, the instruction was consistent with the statute, with Washington Pattern Jury Instruction Civil (WPI) 365.10, with *Halgren* II and the evidence. Love cannot show that the instruction in any way affected the outcome of the trial. There was no error, and certainly not a manifest constitutional error.

Love argues his counsel was ineffective by not objecting to the instruction. The record demonstrates Love's counsel proposed a "to commit" instruction that included the word "or" to which Love now objects. Love's counsel was not ineffective. To prove ineffective assistance Love must show that his counsel performed below an objective standard of reasonableness and he was prejudiced. *In re Detention of Stout*, 159 Wn.2d 357, 377, 150 P.3d 86 (2007). Courts reviewing such claims begin by assuming that counsel's assistance was effective, and the claimant bears the burden of showing otherwise. *Id*. Here, Love's counsel, like counsel for the State and the trial court, relied

on the statutory language, WPI 365.10 and *Halgren* II, and believed that the instruction's inclusion of the word "or" was correct. Love's counsel was not ineffective where significant authority supported their decision.

B. Where The Jury Heard Extensive Testimony About Love's Criminal History, Deviant Behavior And Psychopathic Personality, And Where The Evidence Proved Love Was An Untreated Sex Offender Who Denied Ever Committing A Sex Offense, Any Error Admitting The Former Testimony Of A.P. Was Harmless

Love argues that the Court of Appeals erred when it found the admission of A.P.'s testimony under ER 804(b)(1) to be harmless.<sup>5</sup> The court was correct; the totality of the evidence overwhelmingly supported the jury's verdict and there was no reasonable probability that the testimony of A.P., which repeated what the jury had already heard from the State's expert, altered the outcome of the trial.

#### 1. Standard of Review

The admission of testimony under ER 804(b)(1) is within the discretion of the trial court and is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Acord v. Pettit*, 174 Wn. App. 95, 104, 302 P.3d 1265, *review denied*, 178 Wn.2d 1005, 308 P.3d 641 (2013); *State v. DeSantiago*, 149 Wn.2d 402, 411, 68 P.3d 1065 (2003). Error in applying a rule of evidence is subject to the non-constitutional harmless error analysis.

 $<sup>^5</sup>$  In 2005 A.P. testified under her maiden name and is identified elsewhere as "A.T." In 2014 the parties referred to her as "A.P.," her married name.

State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). The error may be harmless even in a criminal case, where the erroneous admission of former testimony can violate both ER 804 and the confrontation clause. State v. Benn, 161 Wn.2d 256, 266, 165 P.3d 1232 (2007); State v. Scott, 48 Wn. App. 561, 566, 739 P.2d 742 (1987) (Scott I), aff'd by Scott II; United States v. Duenas, 691 F.3d 1070, 1091 (9th Cir. 2012). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable reasons. Mayer v. Sto Indus., Inc., 156 Wn.2d 677, 684, 132 P.3d 115 (2006).

# 2. A.P.'s Former Testimony as a Hearsay Exception Under ER 804(b)(1) and 804(a)(5)

ER 804(b)(1) provides that a witness's former testimony is an exception to the hearsay rule if the witness is unavailable.<sup>7</sup> Pertinent to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Love suggests that the erroneous admission of former testimony under ER 804(b)(1) is *per se* reversible error, relying on *Rice v. Janovich*, 109 Wn.2d 48, 58, 742 P.2d 1230 (1987). Pet. for Review. at 18. His argument is unsupported by any other authority and is contrary not only to well-established precedent, but to the rule recognized by *Rice* itself: "Absent a showing of prejudice to the outcome of the trial, an error does not constitute grounds for reversal." *Id.* at 63. In *Rice*, the multiple errors were not harmless and it is clear that *in that case* they constituted reversible error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> ER 804(b)(1) provides, in pertinent part:

<sup>(</sup>b) Hearsay Exceptions. The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule if the declarant is unavailable as a witness:

<sup>(1)</sup> Former Testimony. Testimony given as a witness at another hearing of the same or a different proceeding, or in a deposition taken in compliance with law in the course of the same or another proceeding, if the party against whom the testimony is now offered, or, in a civil action or proceeding, a predecessor in interest, had an opportunity and similar motive to develop the testimony by direct, cross, or redirect examination.

this case, a witness is unavailable under ER 804(a)(5) if she is absent from the trial and the State is unable to procure her attendance by "process or other reasonable means." "Process or other reasonable means" has been interpreted as requiring that, where a witness's attendance cannot be obtained by subpoena, the party offering the testimony "should at least be required to represent to the court that it made an effort to secure the voluntary attendance of the witnesses at trial. *Rice*, 109 Wn.2d at 57 (citing K. Tegland, 5A Wash. Prac., *Evidence* § 393, at 271 (2d ed. 1982)).

In 2005, Love's 1978 victim A.P. travelled from Puerto Rico to Pasco to testify at Love's first SVP trial. 1RP 1024-27; learned at \*3. The record is silent as to whether the State asked her to voluntarily make that trip a second time in 2014; the State concedes it did not. Under oath at the 2014 trial, and despite having pled guilty to forcibly raping A.P. in 1978, Love denied ever committing a sex offense. 1RP 810; App. 3. He falsely testified that A.P. had been one of his prostitutes. 1RP 1472. In fact, A.P. had worked for the Superior Court and the District Attorney in Modesto, California. CP 901-902.

. . . . .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> ER 804(a)(5) provides, in pertinent part:

<sup>(</sup>a) Definition of Unavailability. "Unavailability as a witness" includes situations in which the declarant:

<sup>(5)</sup> Is absent from the hearing and the proponent of the statement has been unable to procure the declarant's attendance (or in the case of a hearsay exception under subsection (b)(2), (3), or (4), the declarant's attendance or testimony) by process or other reasonable means.

## 3. Any Error was Harmless

Evidentiary error warrants reversal only if there is a reasonable probability it materially affected the outcome of the trial. *In re Detention of West*, 171 Wn.2d 383, 410, 256 P.3d 302 (2011). Here, the issues were whether Love was currently mentally ill and dangerous. RCW 71.09.020(18). The State did not have to prove Love raped A.P. While his criminal history was probative of his mental health, the primary evidence in a civil commitment trial is expert testimony establishing mental illness and dangerousness. *Young*, 122 Wn.2d at 58. A.P.'s testimony about one out of several crimes Love committed from 1973 through 1991 was repetitive of Dr. Phenix's testimony about that crime, as Love's own counsel argued. *See* 1RP 1023 (Love's counsel argues A.P.'s testimony "merely emphasizes or accents what's already been testified to.").

Even in criminal cases, erroneous admission of former testimony can be harmless, beyond a reasonable doubt. *Scott* I at 563. In *Scott* I, the State obtained a witness' perpetuation deposition and then released him from his subpoena. *Id.* At trial, the defense argued the witness was available, but the trial court admitted the testimony under ER 804(b)(1). *Id.* On appeal, admission of the testimony was error because the State's releasing the witness from the subpoena was not a good faith effort to obtain the witness's attendance at trial. *Id.* at 564-66. Unlike here, the

defendant in *Scott* I had a Sixth Amendment right of confrontation, and the error had to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Yet, even under that heightened standard, the admission of the testimony *was* harmless. *Id.* at 566-67 (citing *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 22, 87 S.Ct. 824, 827, 17 L.Ed.2d 705, 24 A.L.R.3d 1065 (1967); *State v. Evans*, 96 Wn.2d 1, 4, 633 P.2d 83 (1981)). *Scott* I so held because, within the totality of evidence at trial, the testimony did not materially affect the outcome. *Id.* 

The lesser non-constitutional standard applies here. The jury first learned that Love had already been adjudicated to be a sexually violent predator in 2005. Ex. 7 (attached as App. 8). They then heard extensive testimony, including expert testimony recounting the facts of A.P.'s rape. There was no reasonable probability that the verdict would have been different and any error was harmless.

The State recounted evidence supporting the jury's verdict in the Br. of Resp. at 15-21. Evidence about his criminal history can be found at 1RP 878-886, 889-90; App. 1 at 2. Testimony by D.L., Love's last victim, is at 1RP 784-804. Testimony about Love's allegedly improved behavior in the year prior to trial backfired when cross-examination revealed that, based on his self-reported pain over that same period, medical staff had

 $<sup>^9</sup>$  Love does not have a due process right to confront a live witness at trial. *In re Detention of Stout*, 159 Wn.2d 357, 374, 150 P.3d 86 (2007).

prescribed Love – a psychopathic substance abuser – an unusually high dose of twice-daily narcotics. 1RP 1373-74, 1381-82. Most significantly, when the jury learned that Love (1) had refused sex offender treatment, (2) denied ever committing a sex offense, and (3) blamed his victims, the trial was essentially over. 1RP 810, 907, 1432-37, 1472. There is no reasonable probability that testimony about a 1978 crime prejudiced the outcome, where Love's currently compromised, untreated mental state was on brazen display in the courtroom. <sup>10</sup>

Lastly, had the State instead offered A.P.'s deposition, it would have been admissible under CR 32(a)(3)(B).<sup>11</sup> Thus, any error was "merely one of form rather than substance." App. 4 at \*4. "Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules, *by other court rules*, or by statute." ER 802 (emphasis added). The civil rules apply in SVP cases. *In re Detention of Williams*, 147 Wn.2d 476, 488, 55 P.3d 597 (2002). CR 32 constitutes "other court rules" referred to by ER 802 and independently provides for the admission of hearsay in civil cases. *Nationwide Life Ins. Co. v. Richards*, 541 F.3d 903, 914-15 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2008).<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> At one point Love interrupted Judge Swisher to yell at another person in the courtroom, "Why do you keep staring at me, man?" 1RP 832.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Love's former trial counsel, the late Carl Sonderman, deposed A.P. by telephone on Wednesday, March 2, 2005. It was reported by Diane D. Nicholson.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See also 5 Christopher B. Mueller & Laird C. Kirkpatrick, Federal Evidence, § 8:114 (3d ed. 2007); 5D Tegland, Washington Practice, Courtroom Handbook on Evidence § 804:4, at 436 (2015-2016 ed.) ("Depositions may be admissible under

Love relies on *Kinsman v. Englander*, 140 Wn. App. 835, 167 P.3d 622 (2007). *Kinsman* incorrectly applied ER 804 because it relied on *Scott I. Kinsman*, 140 Wn. App. at 840. The civil rules were inapplicable in *Scott I*, a criminal case. Moreover, CrR 4.6(d) requires the proponent of admitting deposition testimony in a criminal case to comply with the rules of evidence. *Scott I* at 564.

This Court does not interpret rules in a way that renders them superfluous. *State v. Chhom*, 162 Wn.2d 451, 472, 173 P.3d 234 (2007). Love's argument would render CR 32(a)(3)(B) superfluous because it does not matter where a witness lives if that witness is unavailable under ER 804(a). The Court of Appeals correctly found any error to be harmless.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Love has not established a basis for review by this Court. The State respectfully requests that the Court deny his Petition for Review.